No. 44996-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

Aaron Johnson,

Appellant.

Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-00645-1
The Honorable Judge James J. Dixon

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Skylar T. Brett Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred by admitting items obtained in violation of Mr. Johnson's right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures under the Fourth Amendment.
- 2. The trial court erred by admitting items obtained in violation of Mr. Johnson's right to privacy under Wash. Const. art. I, § 7.
- 3. The search warrant for Mr. Johnson's car was not based on probable cause.
 - **ISSUE 1:** A search warrant must be based on probable cause to believe that evidence of a crime will be found in the place to be searched. Here, the court admitted items seized pursuant to a warrant based only on generalities regarding the activities of criminals. Did the admission of the evidence violate Mr. Johnson's rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments and art. I, § 7?
- 4. The trial court erred by allowing the jury to consider items seized pursuant to an overbroad search warrant.
- 5. The police violated Mr. Johnson's right to privacy under art. I, § 7 by seizing items under authority of an overbroad warrant.
- 6. The police violated Mr. Johnson's Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures by seizing items discovered pursuant to an overbroad warrant.
- 7. The search warrant was overbroad because it authorized police to search for and seize items for which the supporting affidavit did not establish probable cause.
- 8. The search warrant was overbroad because it failed to describe the things to be seized with sufficient particularity.
- 9. The search warrant unlawfully authorized police to search for and seize items protected by the First Amendment.
 - **ISSUE 2:** A search warrant is unconstitutionally overbroad if it permits officers unbridled discretion in determining what to seize. Here, the warrant to search Mr. Johnson's car listed

broad categories of items that could include almost anything regularly kept in a vehicle. Did the admission of the evidence violate Mr. Johnson's rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments and art. I, § 7?

- **ISSUE 3:** A search warrant that permits seizure of items protected by the First Amendment requires close scrutiny. The warrant to search Mr. Johnson's car permitted seizure of notebooks and digital media when there was no probable cause to believe that any evidence would be found in the car. Did the admission of evidence seized pursuant to the warrant violate Mr. Johnson's rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments and art. I, § 7?
- **ISSUE 4:** The plain view doctrine permits an officer to seize items that are immediately recognizable as evidence of a crime. Here, the court admitted a wig, a receipt, and sunglasses that were not listed on the search warrant for Mr. Johnson's car. Did the admission of the evidence violate Mr. Johnson's rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments and art. I, § 7?
- 10. Mr. Johnson's stalking conviction violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 11. Mr. Johnson's stalkingconviction was based on insufficient evidence.
- 12. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Johnson repeatedly followed or harassed Wojdyla in violation of a protection order.
 - **ISSUE 5:** A conviction for felony stalking requires "repeated" following or harassing in violation of a protection order. Here, the state presented evidence of only one incident that occurred after a protection order was in place. Did the state introduce insufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to find Mr. Johnson guilty of felony stalking?
- 13. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Johnson's ER 403 motion to exclude items found in his backpack.
- 14. The erroneous admission of items found in Mr. Johnson's backpack unfairly prejudiced him.

ISSUE 6: ER 403 permits exclusion of evidence whose probative value is outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Here, the court admitted evidence found in a backpack more than twelve hours after Mr. Johnson had allegedly taken it into the alleged victims' apartment and which the state used to argue that he intended a crime far more serious than those for which he was charged. Did the court abuse its discretion by admitting the evidence?

- 15. The sentencing court erred by imposing firearm enhancements.
- 16. The court imposed firearm enhancements in violation of Mr. Johnson's right to notice under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.
- 17. The court imposed firearm enhancements in violation of Mr. Johnson's right to notice under Wash. Const. art. I, § 22.
- 18. The Information failed to properly charge the essential elements of each firearm enhancement.
- 19. The Information failed to allege a nexus between the handgun and each crime.

ISSUE 7: A charging document must include all essential elements of an offense or sentence enhancement. Here, the state accused Mr. Johnson of committing burglary and kidnapping "while armed with a deadly weapon, to wit: a silver and black semi-automatic handgun," but failed to allege a nexus between the weapon and each crime. Did the imposition of firearm enhancements violate his right to notice under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, § 22?

20. The trial court erred by imposing firearm enhancements, where the Information alleged deadly weapon enhancements.

ISSUE 8: An accused person may not be convicted of or sentenced for an uncharged enhancement. In this case, the state alleged that Mr. Johnson committed burglary and kidnapping while armed with a deadly weapon. Did the imposition of a firearm enhancement violate his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Aaron Johnson and Sara Wojdyla dated on and off for two years. RP (trial) 723-24. They broke up and then got back together five to ten times. RP (trial) 725. The couple broke up again in April of 2012. RP (trial) 723-24. Afterwards, Mr. Johnson texted Wojdyla almost daily, asking her to take him back. RP (trial) 726, 745. Wojdyla changed her phone number. RP (trial) 748.

On the morning of May 14, 2012, Mr. Johnson went to Wojdyla's apartment building. RP (trial) 569. When someone left through the main entrance, he went into the building through the open door. RP (trial) 569. He went to Wojdyla's floor and approached her when she opened the door to leave for work. RP (trial) 570. Mr. Johnson put his arm around Wodjyla's waist to prevent her from leaving. RP (trial) 571.

When Wojdyla began to speak, Mr. Johnson put his hand to her mouth to shush her. RP (trial) 570, 1007. He asked her to call work and say that she would be late, which she did. RP (trial) 777. The couple sat down and had a long conversation about their relationship. RP (trial) 790-91, 807.

Wojdyla knew that Mr. Johnson had a concealed weapons permit and asked if he had his gun with him. RP (trial) 161, 802. Mr. Johnson

lifted up his shirt and showed her that he did. RP (trial) 802. Later, Mr. Johnson tried to hand the gun to Wojdyla. RP (trial) 813. She said she did not know how to use it and refused to take it. RP (trial) 813. Mr. Johnson unloaded the gun at her request. RP (trial) 814.

Afterwards, they had sex. RP (trial) 823. Mr. Johnson told Wojdyla that he did not want to have sex if she did not want to. RP (trial) 819. Wojdyla asked Mr. Johnson to give her an orgasm with his hand. RP (trial) 825.

The couple then walked to the parking lot together. RP (trial) 835. Wojdyla said she would talk to Mr. Johnson later, and they parted. RP (trial) 837. Wojdyla drove to work, passing the Lacey police precinct on her way. RP (trial) 842.

While en route, Wojdyla called her coworker and friend, Debra Cole, and told her that Mr. Johnson had pushed his way into her apartment, threatened to kill her, and forced her to have sex with him. RP (trial) 189-90, 842-43. Cole strongly urged Wojdyla to go to the police. RP (trial) 191, 843.

Several hours later, Wojdyla and Cole went to the police together. RP (trial) 848, 851. Wojdyla did not tell the police that she had called work to say she would be late. RP (trial) 1077-78. She told the detective that Mr. Johnson had her cell phone during the entire interaction. RP

(trial) 1077-78. She also did not tell the detective that she had asked Mr. Johnson to give her an orgasm. RP (trial) 853.

The state charged Mr. Johnson with first degree rape, first degree burglary, first degree kidnapping, harassment, and fourth degree assault. CP 2-3. A jury later acquitted Mr. Johnson of the rape charge. RP (trial) 1393.

The prosecution alleged that Mr. Johnson committed the burglary and kidnapping offenses while "armed with a deadly weapon, to wit: a silver and black semi-automatic handgun." CP 2-3. The Information did not allege a nexus between the handgun and each offense. CP 2-3.

After a pre-trial protection order was put in place, the police arrested Mr. Johnson driving near Bonney Lake. RP (trial) 645-46; Ex. 81. Wojdyla had called 911 to say that he was following her. RP (trial) 886. Following this incident, the state added felony stalking to Mr. Johnson's charges. CP 3.

The police impounded Mr. Johnson's car and got a warrant to search it. RP (trial) 684. The affidavit in support of the warrant described the May 14th incident and alleged that:

... it is common to find papers, letters, billings, documents, and other writings which show ownership, dominion and control of their weapons, vehicles, residences, and/or businesses.

... it is common for persons involved in domestic violence and violation of protection order to secrete weapons, use of restraints, or any items that could be used to harm and/or subdue/restrain someone.

Motion to Suppress (1/4/13), Supp. CP.

The warrant authorized search of the car and seizure of:

All firearms, any containers, implements, fruits of the crime, equipment or devices used or kept for illegal purposes, evidence of ownership of such property or rights of ownership or control of said property; records including any notebooks or written or electronic records, associated with any firearms found in violation of RCW 9.41.098.

Motion to Suppress (1/4/13), Supp. CP.

The searching officers did not find any guns in Mr. Johnson's car. RP (trial) 684. They found and seized a wig, a receipt for the wig's purchase, and a pair of sunglasses. RP (trial) 684; Exs. 105, 106, 108.

Wojdyla testified at Mr. Johnson's trial. Her testimony differed from statements she had made prior to trial. She told the detective and the prosecutor that Mr. Johnson had threatened her upon first entering her apartment. RP (trial) 1077, 1168. At trial, she testified that the threat did not occur until an hour into the interaction. RP (trial) 996-97.

Wodjyla told a sexual assault nurse that Mr. Johnson wore gloves into her apartment so he would not leave fingerprints. Ex. 100, p. 4. She testified that it was not true that he had worn gloves. RP (trial) 1069.

Wojdyla testified that, when Mr. Johnson came into her apartment, he pushed her and she hit her head on the wall. RP (trial) 772. She did

not make this allegation to the detective, defense counsel, the prosecutor, or the sexual assault nurse. RP (trial) 1005-05, 1008, 1075, 1167, 1173.

Wodjyla testified that Mr. Johnson had threatened to tie her up with zip ties. RP (trial) 793. She did not tell that to the detective during her interview. RP (trial) 279, 1075.

Wojdyla told defense counsel that Mr. Johnson had never brought his gun into her apartment before. RP (trial) 1009-11. At trial, she admitted that he had brought the gun into her apartment several times. RP (trial) 802.

Wojdyla testified that she had sex with Mr. Johnson because she did not feel that she had any other choice. RP (trial) 812. On cross-examination, she admitted that she'd previously said she just "decided to go with it." RP (trial) 962-65.

Wodjyla testified that Mr. Johnson said that if he could not have her, no one could. RP (trial) 800. She had never told that to the detective, or the prosecutor. RP (trial) 998, 1076, 1166.

Wojdyla testified that she had changed her phone number previously, but that the change did not relate to her relationship with Mr. Johnson. RP (trial) 755. On cross-examination, she admitted that she had told the detective she'd changed her number as a result of one of their breakups. RP (trial) 1014-15.

Wojdyla testified that she reached for her phone to call 911 when she saw Mr. Johnson at her door. RP (trial) 1043. She told the detective that she'd reached for her phone not to call 911, but rather to call her sister or her father. RP (trial) 1043-44.

The police searched Mr. Johnson's home and found a backpack that Wojdyla said he had brought with him to her apartment. RP (trial) 463-64; Ex. 92. The backpack contained gloves, a knife, a saw, a drop cloth, zip ties, paper towels, duct tape, a hat and a bottle of cleaning fluid. RP (trial) 463-64; Ex 92.

When the backpack was in her apartment, Wojdyla only briefly saw the zip ties, the paper towels, and the cleaning fluid. RP (trial) 788. The state offered the backpack and all of its contents at trial. Mr. Johnson objected that the danger of unfair prejudiced outweighed any probative value. RP (trial) 463-64.

The prosecutor argued in closing that the items found in the backpack showed that Mr. Johnson intended to commit a crime when he entered Wojdyla's apartment. RP (trial) 1258, 1262-63, 1267, 1271, 1363-64. The prosecutor argued that the things in the backpack weren't "innocent items." RP 1363-64.

The court also denied Mr. Johnson's motion to suppress the wig, receipt, and sunglasses the police found in his car. RP (suppression

hearing) 103-21. The prosecutor speculated in closing that Mr. Johnson had the wig and sunglasses as part of a plan to either disguise himself or to disguise Wojdyla. RP (trial) 1296.

The court instructed the jurors to determine whether or not Mr.

Johnson was armed with a firearm during the commission of each offense.

CP 198.

The jury found Mr. Johnson guilty of burglary, kidnapping, assault, harassment, and stalking. RP (trial) 1391-94. The jury returned special verdicts finding that Mr. Johnson was armed with a firearm during commission of the burglary and the kidnapping offenses. RP (trial) 1391-92.

This timely appeal follows. CP 15.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

- I. THE EVIDENCE ADMITTED AT TRIAL WAS SEIZED IN VIOLATION OF MR. JOHNSON'S RIGHTS UNDER THE FOURTH AMENDMENT AND WASH. CONST. ART. I § 7.
- A. Standard of Review.

The validity of a search warrant is an issue of law reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Neth*, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008). An unconstitutional search can constitute manifest error affecting a

constitutional right, raised for the first time on review. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Swetz*, 160 Wn. App. 122, 128, 247 P.3d 802 (2011) *review denied*, 174 Wn.2d 1009, 281 P.3d 686 (2012).

Constitutional errors require reversal unless harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Lynch*, 178 Wn.2d 487, 309 P.3d 482, 486 (2013).

B. Search warrants must be supported by probable cause and must particularly describe the things to be seized.

Under the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution,

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

U.S. Const. Amend. IV.²

Similarly, art. I, § 7 of the Washington State Constitution provides that "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." Wash. Const. art. I, § 7. Art. I, § 7 provides stronger protection to an individual's right to privacy than that

¹ The court may also accept review of other issues argued for the first time on appeal, including constitutional errors that are not manifest. RAP 2.5(a); see State v. Russell, 171 Wn.2d 118, 122, 249 P.3d 604 (2011).

² The Fourth Amendment is applicable to the states through the action of the Fourteenth Amendment. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 6 L.Ed.2d 1081 (1961).

guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.³ *State v. Meneese*, 174 Wn.2d 937, 946, 282 P.3d 83 (2012).

Under both constitutional provisions, search warrants must be based on probable cause. *State v. Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d 354, 359, 275 P.3d 314 (2012). An affidavit in support of a search warrant "must state the underlying facts and circumstances on which it is based in order to facilitate a detached and independent evaluation of the evidence by the issuing magistrate." *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). Generalizations about what criminals generally do cannot provide the individualized suspicion required to justify the issuance of a search warrant. *Id.* at 147-148.

Probable cause requires a nexus between criminal activity, the item to be seized, and the place to be searched. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 140.

A search warrant must also describe the items to be seized with sufficient particularity to limit the executing officers' discretion and inform the person whose property is being searched what items may be seized. *State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 27-29, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993).

The particularity requirement prevents the issuance of warrants based on facts that are "loose, vague, or doubtful." *State v. Perrone*, 119

³ Accordingly, the six-part *Gunwall* analysis used to interpret state constitutional provisions is not necessary for issues relating to art. I, § 7. *State v. White*, 135 Wn.2d 761, 769, 958 P.2d 962 (1998); *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986).

Wn.2d 538, 545, 834 P.2d 611 (1992). The requirement also limits law enforcement officials from engaging in a "general, exploratory rummaging in a person's belongings..." *Id.*, at 545 (citations omitted). Conformity with the rule "eliminates the danger of unlimited discretion in the executing officer's determination of what to seize." *Id.*, at 546.

The particularity and probable cause requirements are inextricably interwoven. *Perrone*, 119 Wn.2d at 545. A warrant may be overbroad either because it authorizes seizure of items for which probable cause does not exist, or because it fails to describe the things to be seized with sufficient particularity. *State v. Maddox*, 116 Wn. App. 796, 805, 67 P.3d 1135 (2003).

C. The warrant to search Mr. Johnson's car was not based on probable cause to believe evidence of a crime would be found therein.

Generalizations and boilerplate regarding the activities of criminals are insufficient to establish probable cause. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 147-48. In *Thein*, the court reversed a conviction based on evidence seized pursuant to a warrant authorizing search of a suspected drug dealer's home. *Id.* at 151. The affidavit in support of the warrant provided that drug dealers commonly keep inventory, large sums of money, and business records hidden in their homes. *Id.* at 139.

The Supreme Court held that the affidavit did not establish probable cause to believe that evidence or fruits of a crime would be found in the suspect's home. *Id.* at 148. The court refused to adopt a rule that probable cause to believe that a person is a drug dealer automatically provides probable cause to search that person's home:

Absent a sufficient basis in fact from which to conclude evidence of illegal activity will likely be found at the place to be searched, a reasonable nexus is not established as a matter of law.... Blanket inferences of this kind substitute generalities for the required showing of reasonably specific "underlying circumstances" that establish evidence of illegal activity will likely be found in the place to be searched in any particular case.

Id. at 147-48.

Here, the affidavit in support of the warrant to search Mr.

Johnson's car provided that "it is common" for officers to find certain documents as well as weapons and restraints during warrant searches.

Motion to Suppress (1/4/2013), Supp. CP.

The only other information in the affidavit related to any of the items listed on the warrant is general information about Mr. Johnson's possession of a gun during the May 14th incident. Motion to Suppress (1/4/13), Supp. CP. The affidavit also mentioned Mr. Johnson's practice of carrying a gun before he was prohibited from doing so by the protection order. Motion to Suppress (1/4/13), Supp. CP.

The affidavit did not establish probable cause to believe that evidence of a crime would be found in Mr. Johnson's car. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 147-48. The officer's generalized statements about what is commonly found during warrant searches do not provide any information about the underlying circumstances in Mr. Johnson's case. *Id.* Nor do they provide any reason to believe that the categories of items listed would be found in Mr. Johnson's car specifically. *Id.*

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