IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

AARON JOHNSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable James J. Dixon, Judge The Honorable Carol Murphy, Judge Cause No. 12-1-00645-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Carol La Verne Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

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

Id. at 485. "A 'book' which is no more than a ledger of an unlawful enterprise thus might stand on a quite different constitutional footing from the books involved in the present case." Id. at 485, n. 16. In Standford, the petitioner's home had been searched for evidence relating to the Communist Party and more than 2000 items were seized.

The First Amendment does not protect writing just because it is writing. "'A quotation from Voltaire in the flyleaf of a book will not constitutionally redeem an otherwise obscene publication . . "

Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15, 25, n.7, 93 S. Ct. 2607, 37 L. Ed.

2d 419 (1973) (internal cite omitted). The written instruments or electronic records that the search warrant authorized to be seized were records regarding any firearms that were unlawful to possess, or evidence of ownership or control over property subject to seizure. CP 236.

Johnson also argues that there was no specific evidence that such records existed or would be found in the vehicle. Appellant's Opening Brief at 20. But there is no requirement that there be specific evidence that such items are in the vehicle, only a reasonable suspicion. Clark, 143 Wn.2d at 748. In the context of examining an affidavit for missing or incorrect information, our Supreme Court has referred to a "catch-22 situation for the police: requiring police to thoroughly investigate the accuracy of an affidavit, a feat impossible to do without a warrant." Chenoweth, 160 Wn.2d at 476. It is reasonable to infer that records pertaining to a firearm would be kept with the firearm.

Johnson further argues that the warrant did not include any language limiting the officers in their search through notebooks and records in the car, and cites to <u>State v. Riley</u>, 121 Wn.2d 22, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993). Appellant's Opening Brief at 20-21. The Fourth Amendment, however, requires particularity regarding the things to be *seized*. <u>Id</u>. at 28. While it is true that a general rummaging through a person's belongings is prohibited, <u>Stenson</u>, 132 Wn.2d at 691, it is glaringly obvious that an officer searching for items that may be seized will have to look at all items which might meet that description. It follows that the only particularity requirement

regarding the items to be *searched* is that they must be items that could conceivably be items authorized by the warrant to be seized. Here the limitation to records regarding firearms found in violation of RCW 9.41.098, or evidence of ownership or control of seizable items, limits the search to documents, whether paper or electronic, that could answer that description.

d. The items seized from Johnson's car were all implements of the crime of violation of a protection order.

Johnson argues that the items seized were not specifically listed in the warrant and not admissible under the plain view doctrine. Appellant's Opening Brief at 21. The warrant identified the crime for which probable cause was found as violation of a protection order with a firearm restriction. CP 236. It authorized the seizure of implements of the crime. Id. It is a reasonable inference that a wig and sunglasses could be implements of the crime of violation of a protection order, given that they would be effective disguises for either Johnson or the victim. The warrant also authorized the seizure of evidence of ownership of such implements, and receipts are generally considered to be evidence of ownership. The trial court did not err in admitting all of the items taken from the black BMW.

II. The State produced sufficient evidence to support Johnson's conviction for felony stalking.

Johnson claims there was insufficient evidence to support his conviction for felony stalking. He does not argue that he did not stalk Wojdyla, only that there was insufficient evidence that it was a felony. Appellant's Opening Brief at 23-25. Stalking is prohibited by RCW 9A.46.110, which says, in pertinent part:

- (1) A person commits the crime of stalking if, without lawful authority and under circumstances not amounting to a felony attempt of another crime;
- (a) He or she intentionally and repeatedly harasses or repeatedly follows another person; and
- (b) The person being harassed or followed is placed in fear that the stalker intends to injure the person, another person, or property of the person or another person. The feeling of fear must be one that a reasonable person in the same situation would experience under all the circumstances; and
 - (c) The stalker either:
- (i) Intends to frighten, intimidate, or harass the person; or
- (ii) Knows or reasonably should know that the person is afraid, intimidated, or harassed even if the stalker did not intend to place the person in fear or intimidate or harass the person.

RCW 9A.46.110(5)(b) makes stalking a felony if one of several conditions also apply to the above-described conduct. The only circumstance relevant to this case is (5)(b)(ii), that the stalking violated any protective order protecting the person being stalked. Here there was evidence of a number of incidents of stalking, but

only one occurred after the protection order was put in place. Johnson argues that the statute is clear that at least two incidents must occur after the protective order is obtained, and in the alternative that the statute is ambiguous and the rule of lenity operates in his favor. Appellant's Opening Brief at 23-25.

Statutory construction is a question of law reviewed de novo under the error of law standard. State v. Wentz, 149 Wn.2d 342, 346, 68 P.3d 282 (2003). When interpreting a statute, the court must give effect to the plain meaning of the statutory language. In re Wissink, 118 Wn. App. 870, 874, 81 P.3d 865 (2003). A court may not engage in statutory construction If the statute is unambiguous, State v. Bolar, 129 Wn.2d 361, 366, 917 P.2d 125 (1996), and should resist the temptation of rewriting an unambiguous statute to suit the court's notions of what is good policy, recognizing the principle that "drafting of a statute is a legislative, not judicial, function." State v. Jackson, 137 Wn.2d 712, 725, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999). While the court's goal in statutory interpretation is to identify and give effect to the legislature's intent. if the language of a statute is unambiguous, the language of the statute is not subject to judicial interpretation. State v. Spandel, 107 Wn. App. 352, 358, 27 P.3d 613 (citing State v. Bright, 129 Wn.2d

257, 265, 916 P.2d 922 (1996)), review denied, 145 Wn.2d 1013 (2001). When the legislature omits language from a statute, intentionally or inadvertently, the court will not read into the statute the language it believes was omitted. State v. Moses, 145 Wn.2d 370, 374, 37 P.2d 1216 (2002). Under the rule of lenity, any ambiguity is interpreted to favor the defendant. Spandel, 107 Wn. App. at 358.

Washington case law has interpreted and applied the stalking statute broadly. State v. Kintz, 169 Wn.2d 537, 549, 238 P.3d 470 (2010). Johnson followed the victim in his vehicle at a time a protection order was in place, and by the plain terms of the statute, that stalking conduct raises the offense to a felony.

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." Salinas, supra, at 201. Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence are equally reliable, and criminal intent may be inferred from conduct where "plainly indicated as a matter of logical

probability." <u>State v. Delmarter</u>, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). The evidence here was sufficient to establish felony stalking.

Even if Johnson were correct, which the State does not concede, the remedy would not be reversal and dismissal with prejudice, as he argues, but remand for entry of judgment and sentence for gross misdemeanor stalking. The gross misdemeanor is an inferior degree of felony stalking, and a defendant may be found guilty of an inferior degree of the crime charged. RCW 10.61.003. Johnson does not dispute that there was sufficient evidence of gross misdemeanor stalking.

III. The court acted within its discretion in admitting the contents of Johnson's backpack.

Johnson argues that the contents of his backpack, seized some hours after the incident on May 14, 2012, where he held Wodjyla in her apartment, were more prejudicial than probative and the court abused its discretion in admitting them. Appellant's Opening Brief at 25-27.

Admission of evidence is within the trial court's "sound discretion" and will not be disturbed on review absent an abuse of that discretion. State v. Stubsjoen, 48 Wn. App. 139, 147, 738 P.2d

306, *review denied*, 108 Wn.2d 1033 (1987). A reviewing court will find an abuse of discretion when the trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable, or is exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. State v. Dixon, 159 Wn.2d 65, 75-76, 147 P.3d 991 (2006), citing State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003). A decision is based "on untenable grounds" or made "for untenable reasons" if it rests on facts unsupported in the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard. Id. A decision is "manifestly unreasonable" if the court, despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported facts, adopts a view that "no reasonable person would take," and arrives at a decision "outside the range of acceptable choices." Id.

In Johnson's case, the trial court did a careful weighing of the relevance of the evidence against its prejudicial effect, taking into account Evidence Rules 401, 402, and 403. RP 96-100. The court found that the evidence was highly probative of Johnson's intent and although prejudicial to him, the prejudice did not outweigh the probative value. RP 99. The court offered to give a cautionary instruction if Johnson requested one, RP 99-100, which he did not. While another court might have ruled differently, the

standard is, as set forth above, whether any reasonable person would have ruled as this court did.

Johnson argues that the probative value of the items in the backpack was limited because it was seized more than twelve hours after the incident and Wojdyla did not see all of the items. Appellant's Opening Brief at 25-26. However, whether Wodjyla saw them or not has nothing to do with Johnson's intent. The time span was not so long as to make the contents of the backpack irrelevant, and there is reason to believe all of the items seized were in the backpack when he took it into Wojdyla's apartment. When he was asked to explain the hand saw in the backpack he said it had fallen off the wall in his garage and he'd put it in his car, but had no explanation as to why it was in the backpack, nor did he deny that it was in the backpack when he carried it into the victim's apartment. RP 578-79.

Wojdyla testified that Johnson threatened to kill her and refused to let her leave for more than two hours. The State charged him with first degree burglary, an element of which is the intent to commit a crime in the building where he entered or remained unlawfully. CP 2. He was also charged with first degree kidnapping, which has an intent element. CP 2. The items in the

backpack were extremely relevant to proving his intent for those offenses, and while they were indeed prejudicial, they were not unduly so. It would be an odd result if offenders could commit odious crimes and then have the evidence suppressed because it cast them in an unfavorable light. The trial court was well within its discretion to find that the probative value of the evidence outweighed the prejudicial effect. RP 98-99.

IV. The nexus between the crime and the firearm defines the enhancement but is not itself an essential element that must be alleged in the charging document.

Johnson argues that the language charging him with first degree burglary and first degree kidnapping, both with firearm enhancements⁴, was deficient under both the Sixth Amendment and art. I, § 22 of the Washington Constitution. Appellant's Opening Brief at 28-30. The State does not dispute that sentencing enhancements must be pled in the information. State v. Recuenco, 163 Wn.2d 428, 434, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008). Nor does the State dispute that when a firearm enhancement is alleged it must prove that a nexus existed between the weapon and the crime. State v.

3, but he was acquitted of that charge. RP 1393.

⁴ A firearm enhancement was also added to the charge of first degree rape, CP

Brown, 162 Wn.2d 422, 431-35, 173 P.3d 245 (2007). Johnson raises this claim for the first time on appeal.

Under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution, a charging document must set forth all of the essential elements of the alleged crime so that a criminal defendant can be apprised of the nature of the charge and can prepare an adequate defense. State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 97, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). When the sufficiency of the charging document is raised for the first time on appeal, the court will engage in a liberal construction of the document in order to determine its validity. Under that liberal analysis, the appellate court examines: (1) whether the essential elements of the alleged crime appear in any form in the charging document, or whether they can be found by fair construction; and if so, (2) whether the defendant can show that he was nonetheless actually prejudiced by the inartful language used in the document. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 105-106. The charging document is read as a whole according to common sense and including facts that are State v. Nonog, 169 Wn.2d 220, 227, 237 P.3d 250 implied. (2010).

Not everything that the State must prove is an essential element of the crime and definitions of essential elements need not be alleged in the charging document. State v. Phuong, 174 Wn. App. 494, 542, 299 P.3d 37 (2013). For example, see State v. Tinker, 155 Wn.2d 219, 222, 118 P.3d 885 (2005) (the value of the stolen property is not an essential element of third degree theft); State v. Lorenz, 152 Wn.2d 22, 34-35, 93 P.3d 133 (2004) (sexual gratification is not an essential element of first degree child molestation, but rather a definition clarifying the essential element of sexual contact); State v. Allen, 175 Wn.2d 611, 630, 294 P.3d 679 (2013) (the concept of a true threat defines and limits the essential element of a threat in felony telephone harassment but is not itself an essential element).

To prove the sentencing enhancement, the State is required to prove that the weapon was easily accessible, readily available for use, and that there was a connection between the defendant, the crime, and the weapon. State v. Eckenrode, 159 Wn.2d 488, 490-91, 150 P.3d 1116 (2007). The enhancement itself is what must be pled, not all terms defining it. Nor is it reversible error to fail to instruct the jury as to the nexus requirement if the defendant did not seek such an instruction. Id. at 491.

Johnson does not claim that the jury instructions were constitutionally insufficient, nor does he claim that the State failed to prove the nexus between the firearm, the crime, and himself. Because the nexus requirement defines the firearm enhancement, it is not an essential element and need not be charged.

V. The firearm enhancement was properly charged and the court properly imposed the firearm enhancement.

Johnson argues that the State did not allege a firearm enhancement and thus he can only be sentenced to deadly weapon enhancements rather than the firearm enhancements he received. CP 8, Appellant's Opening Brief at 30-32. The State alleged the enhancement for both the first degree burglary charge and the first degree kidnapping charge in identical language, as follows:

It is further alleged that during the commission of this offense, the defendant or an accomplice was armed with a deadly weapon, to-wit: a silver and black semi-automatic handgun.

CP 2. The charging document references both RCW 9.94A.825, the statute permitting a deadly weapon enhancement and which includes any firearm in the definition of deadly weapon, and RCW

9.94A.533(3), the statute which specifies the length of the firearm enhancement. Id.

Johnson raises this challenge for the first time on appeal.

The standard of review of a charging document challenged for the first time on appeal is set forth in the preceding section. He does not challenge the jury instructions or the special verdict forms.

Johnson relies on <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Delgado</u>, 149 Wn. App. 233, 204 P.3d 936 (2009), to argue that the State only charged a deadly weapon enhancement. In <u>Delgado</u>, the court noted that:

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